PUZZLES OF THE CROWD

INVESTORS' PERCEPTIONS OF INFORMATION ASYMMETRY AND AGENCY PROBLEMS IN EQUITY CROWDFUNDING

ANTON LÖWSTEDT MICHAEL PIHL

Bachelor Thesis Stockholm School of Economics

2019

Puzzles of the crowd: Investors' perceptions of information asymmetry and agency problems in equity crowdfunding

Abstract:

Equity crowdfunding is an emerging type of financing, providing small firms with a new source of capital and small private investors with new investment opportunities. Thereby, large crowds of small private investors are introduced to a context suggested to be particularly informationally opaque and where agency challenges exist. This thesis explores how the equity crowdfunding investors perceive issues of information asymmetry and agency, and how they are mitigating these potential problems. A single-case study was performed in which data was collected through semi-structured interviews with seven investors that had invested through the Swedish equity crowdfunding platform FundedByMe. Our study suggests that small private investors investing in highly uncertain and risky small firms consider information asymmetry and agency as being prevalent problems but exert limited efforts into mitigating these. Of the efforts pursued, the findings show that the investors' due diligence focused mainly on the characteristics of the management team and that importance was given to the signalling of already committed capital. We argue that the investors' typically low investment sizes explain the limited extent of their mitigating efforts, but also that the investors expect the intermediating platform to signal firm quality, thus expecting the platform to overcome some of the information asymmetries on their behalf.

Keywords:

Agency theory, Equity crowdfunding, Financial intermediaries, Information asymmetry

Authors:

Anton Löwstedt (23380) and Michael Pihl (23515)

Tutors:

Marek Reuter, Assistant Professor, Department of Accounting

Acknowledgments:

We would like to express our sincere appreciation to our tutor, Marek Reuter, for his truly valuable feedback. Also, we are grateful to all the participants for making this study possible.

Bachelor Thesis Bachelor Program in Business and Economics Stockholm School of Economics © Anton Löwstedt and Michael Pihl, 2019

Table of Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	4		
2.	BACKGROUND	7		
2.1.	Defining Crowdfunding and Equity Crowdfunding	7		
2.2.	The Structure of Equity Crowdfunding8			
3.	THEORETICAL DEVELOPMENT	9		
3.1.	Information Asymmetry	9		
3.2.	Agency Theory	10		
3.2.1.	Agency theory in the context of equity crowdfunding10			
3.3.	Mitigation Strategies	12		
3.3.1. 3.3.2.	Deal screening and due diligence Contracting, monitoring and controlling			
3.4.	Financial Intermediaries	15		
3.5.	Theoretical Framework	15		
4.	RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	17		
4.1.	Research Design and Approach	17		
4.2.	Data Collection	17		
4.2.1.4.2.2.4.2.3.4.2.4.	Primary data Semi-structured interviews Platform and sample selection Secondary data	18 18		
4.3.	Data Analysis			
4.4.	Quality of Research			
5.	EMPIRICAL FINDINGS	22		
5.1.	Empirical Background	22		
5.1.1.	Investment Motives	23		
5.2.	Information Asymmetry Related Considerations	24		
5.2.1. 5.2.2.	Investors' views of the available information and campaigns Investor inexperience	25		
5.2.3. 5.2.4.	Information that is of interest to the investors The investment size's impact on the extent of the due diligence efforts			
5.2.4. 5.2.5.	Investors' views on the completion of the funding target			
5.2.6.	Investors' expectations of the equity crowdfunding platform			
5.3.	Agency Related Considerations			
5.3.1.	The investors' views of the entrepreneurs' ex-post behaviour			

5.3.2.	Investors' ex-post behaviours	29
5.3.3.	The effectiveness of investors' ex-post behaviours	
5.3.4.	Expectations on the equity crowdfunding platform	31
6.	DISCUSSION	32
6.1.	Information Asymmetry	32
6.1.1.	Investor inexperience and its effect on information asymmetry	32
6.1.2.	Signals, screening and herding	
6.1.3.	Due diligence	
6.1.4.	The equity crowdfunding platform	35
6.2.	Agency Problems	
6.2.1.	Exerted mitigation efforts	
7.	CONCLUSION	
8.	REFERENCES	42
9.	APPENDIX	45

1. Introduction

Equity crowdfunding is an emerging non-conventional type of financing, providing entrepreneurial ventures with a new source of capital and small private investors with new investment opportunities (Belleflamme, Lambert, & Schweinbacher, 2014). While small firms' access to financing is of importance to the economy as a whole (Cassar, 2004), equity crowdfunding also introduces large crowds of small private investors to high-risk investments in a context where the available information is particularly opaque and where agency challenges exist (Belleflamme et al., 2014; Berger & Udell, 1998; Sapienza & Gupta, 1994; van Osnabrugge, 2000). One party that has raised concerns about this is the Swedish financial supervisory authority, Finansinspektionen, claiming that a significant informational gap exists between the entrepreneur and the investors in equity crowdfunding, making it difficult for the investors to make well-informed decisions (Svenska Dagbladet, 2018). However, the crowdinvestors' actual perceptions and experiences of this remains, to our knowledge, undocumented.

Early-stage financing is typically characterized by considerable information asymmetry, where one party, in this setting the entrepreneur, has better access to information than the investor (Ahlers, Cumming, Günther, & Schweizer, 2015; Akerlof, 1970). The information asymmetry in the context of small firms is generally considered to be more severe, due to the informational opaqueness of small firms being substantial (Berger & Udell, 1998), partly due to the lack of historical data (Huyghebaert & Van de Gucht, 2007). Moreover, the ventures pursuing equity crowdfunding are private and therefore not subject to the regulation of public firms that concerns the materiality of disclosed information to investors (Berger & Udell, 1998). Thus, the literature suggests that the information asymmetry should be significant within the equity crowdfunding context (Agrawal, Catalini, & Goldfarb, 2014; Ahlers et al., 2015). Investors can mitigate problems of information asymmetry through activities such as deal screening and due diligence, activities that have been suggested to be carried out extensively by other investors such as venture capital firms (van Osnabrugge, 2000). There are, however, few studies examining the actual actions undertaken by investors to address any possible informational problems in equity crowdfunding. Specific to the context of equity crowdfunding is also the prominent role of a financial intermediary, the crowdfunding internet platform, that exerts, or is expected to exert, certain mitigation strategies on behalf of the investors. However, these activities differ among the platforms and it is unclear how the crowdinvestors perceive their role.

Moreover, the relationship between investors and management has been given significant attention, with research suggesting that the relationship could be viewed as one between a principal and an agent (Fama & Jensen, 1983; Jensen & Meckling, 1976, Sapienza & Gupta, 1994; Schleifer & Vishny, 1997). In this domain, it is suggested that the investor will encounter an agency problem, due to that the entrepreneur not always will act in the best interests of the investor. This is a problem that is well-considered by professional financial actors, such as venture capital firms, which exert significant efforts to limit such potential problems through activities such as contracting, monitoring and control (Gompers, 2000; Kaplan & Strömberg, 2003; van Osnabrugge, 2000). The suggested agency problem is also evident in the equity crowdfunding context, in that a campaign involves a separation of ownership and control that enables the entrepreneur to pursue self-interested behaviours. However, while Jensen and Meckling (1976) primarily considered the agency problem as an incentives problem, it should be recognized that the entrepreneur typically remains as a significant owner in the firm, making the incentives problem only minor (Huyghebaert & Van de Gucht, 2007). However, it could be argued that agency problems are not just related to incentives, but also due to disagreements about the most appropriate course of action. Disagreements of this sort are especially evident in the contexts of new ventures, where uncertainty is high and where entrepreneurs often lack experience (Sapienza & Gupta, 1994). Moreover, significant information asymmetry, as expected to be present within equity crowdfunding, advances the risks of interest divergences (van Osnabrugge, 2000). Thus, it could be argued that the agency risks in equity crowdfunding are considerable.

Some research has been conducted regarding the driving factors behind the crowdfunding investors' willingness to invest in ventures on the crowdfunding platforms and the factors that ensure successful crowdfunding campaigns (Mollick, 2014; Vismara, 2016; Vulkan, Åsterbo, & Sierra, 2016). However, there have to our knowledge been few studies examining whether information asymmetry and agency concerns affect the investment decisions of the crowdinvestors, and if so, whether the activities undertaken by them to mitigate these problems differ from the ones of professional investors. We believe that a deeper understanding of the crowdinvestors' considerations in relation to this, and of the practices that are, or could be, available to reduce problems would contribute with important insights on how to optimally structure equity crowdfunding platforms and campaigns.

Considering the above, there is a need to further study the investors' perceptions of information asymmetry and agency in equity crowdfunding. The research questions we aim to study are, therefore: *How do equity crowdfunding investors perceive issues of information asymmetry and agency, and how are they mitigating these potential problems?*

To address the research question, a qualitative study was conducted consisting of interviews with investors that had invested in companies through the Swedish equity crowdfunding platform FundedByMe. Equity crowdfunding provides a new empirical context to the theories of information asymmetry and agency, thereby our thesis aims to contribute to the literature by shedding light on small private investors investment concerns in highly uncertain and risky small firms, as opposed to the more common setting of small investors investing in large and less uncertain and less risky firms. The presence of an intermediating platform in equity crowdfunding also provides new insights on which mitigating activities a small private investor is willing to exert themselves, and which activities they expect a financial intermediary to exert on their behalf.

2. Background

2.1. Defining Crowdfunding and Equity Crowdfunding

Crowdfunding is a unique form of fundraising that draws inspiration from the concept of microfinancing and crowdsourcing (Mollick, 2014). Crowdsourcing is the practice of outsourcing specific corporate tasks to an undefined large group of people, with the purpose of inducing the crowd to contribute to the firm's development, for free or in exchange of a reward (Belleflamme et al., 2014). Besides having the potential benefit of being a resource efficient practice, it might also yield benefits in the outcomes of the specific task. As an example, it has been found that outsourcing of idea generation to potential customers enhances the customer benefits of the firm's products or services to a greater extent than if the idea generation had been kept in-house (Poetz & Schreier, 2012). The crowdsourcing concept is a broad umbrella term and one of its subcategories is crowdfunding, which is the focus of this thesis. The main difference between crowdsourcing and crowdfunding is that the latter is only concerned with financial contributions. The definition that will be used throughout the text is provided by Belleflamme et al. (2014) and states that "crowdfunding involves an open call, mostly through the internet, for the provision of financial resources, either in the form of donation or in exchange for the future product or some form of reward, to support initiatives for specific purposes".

As implied by the crowdfunding definition, there are several ways in which capital providers can be compensated in exchange for their financial contributions, something that is governed by the context of the fundraising. Mollick (2014) suggests that this context characterizes the different types of crowdfunding as either based on donations, rewards, lending or equity. In the donation type, fundraisers often ask for contributions to carry out art or humanitarian projects. The capital provider can then be seen as a philanthropist and are thereby not granted any compensation (Mollick, 2014). Reward-based crowdfunding gives the capital provider a non-monetary reward. This could be some sort of recognition for their support or treatment of the crowd as customers, and thus practically pre-selling not yet produced products (Mollick, 2014). Hence, the types of crowdfunding that involves donations or rewards are both characterized by capital providers that support firms without any clear financial demand in exchange for their contribution. Lending-based crowdfunding, however, typically offers a return on capital to the capital provider in the form of interest and could, therefore, be seen as more of an investment. The fourth type, equity crowdfunding, entails the capital provider with an equity stake in the

firm in exchange for their contribution, thereby compensating the capital provider with the possibility of earning a financial profit. This could be viewed as a similar form of fundraising as when funds are sought from conventional investors, with the difference being that equity crowdfunding involves an open call at an internet platform for contributions from a large crowd.

2.2. The Structure of Equity Crowdfunding

Equity crowdfunding was during 2016 the most prevalent crowdfunding method in Europe as well as in the Nordics, with a market volume of 219 MEUR and 75 MEUR respectively. This form of fundraising is growing rapidly, experiencing a growth of 37% in Europe 2016 (Ziegler et al., 2018). A firm wishing to pursue fundraising through equity crowdfunding collaborates with an intermediary, a digital crowdfunding platform, which has a pre-registered group of potential investors as users. In exchange for a fee, the firm is allowed to post an offering for the crowd to invest in the firm through the platform (a "campaign" or a "project"), hence making an open call for funding. The crowdfunding platform then creates attention for the campaign through marketing practices such as social media efforts and special events, however, investors pay no fees for participating in the campaigns (FundedByMe Crowdfunding Sweden AB (publ) [FundedByMe], 2019). The completion of the fundraising is dependent on the campaign reaching a predetermined minimum funding target, typically visible for the crowd investors before investing. If the target is not reached, then none of the pledged investments will be released to the fundraiser (FundedByMe, 2019; Tomczak & Brem, 2013). This 'all-or-nothing model' has been suggested to serve as a protection for the investors from fraudulent campaigns, preventing overzealous investment behaviours, and encouraging fundraisers to carefully set realistic goals (Tomczak & Brem, 2013).

The firms seeking funding are responsible for providing adequate and correct information on the campaign page, and the platforms typically waive responsibility (FundedByMe, 2019; Pepins Group AB (publ) [Pepins], 2019). This includes the fundraising target and the equity value of the firm that are determined by the fundraiser. However, the platforms often have certain demands on which information that must be provided by the firms. Furthermore, the platforms themselves purport to be performing screening activities to choose which firms to accept, sometimes involving external due diligence processes (FundedByMe, 2019; Pepins, 2019). Hence, it could be argued that the platforms have a crucial role in setting requirements on campaigns that facilitate the crowd investors' ability to make well-informed investment decisions.

3. Theoretical Development

3.1. Information Asymmetry

When one party has better access to information than another, an information asymmetry situation is present (Akerlof, 1970; Guldiken, Tupper, Nair, & Yu, 2014). In early-stage financing, it is often presumed that this situation is fairly typical between entrepreneurs and their investors (Ahlers et al., 2015), with a contributing factor to this being that small businesses, in general, are considered to be more informationally opaque than larger ones (Berger & Udell, 1998), this partly because of the limited available historical data of firms in earlier stages of their development (Huyghebaert & Van de Gucht, 2007). Moreover, smaller businesses are often private and thus not subject to the regulation that mandates certain disclosures of material information in public markets (Berger & Udell, 1998). In private markets, lead investors such as venture capitalists can reduce information asymmetries by signalling quality to outside investors in small businesses (Hsu, 2004). In the equity crowdfunding context, however, there is often no such third-party certification of the projects (Vismara, 2016). What more is, it has been suggested that the investors on these platforms are particularly poor at differentiating between 'good' or 'bad' ventures, because of their lack of experience and capabilities. In summary, the above-mentioned literature suggests that the problems of information asymmetry and adverse selection are particularly severe in the setting of equity crowdfunding (Agrawal et al., 2014; Ahlers et al., 2015; Vismara, 2016).

To overcome some of the problems of information asymmetry and adverse selection, it has been suggested that an actor can try to signal quality in different ways (Leland & Pyle, 1977; Spence, 1974). The framework for this line of inquiry has been called signalling theory. In the context of financing of companies, some of the primary signalling devices that have been considered are equity retention on the part of the entrepreneur who seeks funds, as well as affiliation with venture capitalists, prestigious underwriters and universities (Hsu, 2004; Vismara, 2016). For equity crowdfunding investors it is, to the best of our knowledge, not explored whether they see the credibility of the crowdfunding platform as important. Vismara (2016) also looked at how herding behaviour could be exhibited on equity crowdfunding platforms, using LinkedIncontacts as a proxy for credibility. Vismara's study builds on the literature on herding behaviour which includes Banerjee (1992) and Simonsohn and Ariely (2008). One of the main implications of the herding literature is that, where investors believe that others have valuable

information, they might follow previous investors' example, even though they are not familiar with the rationale behind previous investors' investment decisions. Ultimately, this risk leading to a situation where investors as a group are not acting rationally, but instead creating negative externalities by committing excessive amounts to projects with uncertain outcomes. In addition to these aspects, the aforementioned study by Ahlers et al. (2015) theorized that *uncertainty*, which the authors saw springing from unknown risk factors, could have a negative effect on the investors' willingness to invest in a project. The data in their study suggested that statements of risk factors led to a reduction of uncertainty, something that Ahlers et al. (2015) perceived as verifying that the disclosing of risk factors was an effective signal to the investors.

3.2. Agency Theory

The separation of ownership and control that external equity financing entails, is an essential element in the contractual perspective of the firm. As pioneered by Jensen and Meckling (1976), the investor-manager relationship is considered as a contractual relationship, under which the principal (the investor) appoints an agent (the entrepreneur) to perform some service on their behalf that involves delegating some decision-making authority to the agent. This relationship will encompass an agency problem, given that the parties are utility maximizers and that the agent, therefore, not always will act in the best interest of the principal (Jensen & Meckling, 1976). The agency problem is in the context of financing therefore related to the difficulties that the capital providers have in assuring that their funds are not expropriated or wasted on unattractive projects since this would reduce the value of the firm (Schleifer & Vishny, 1997). The principal is able to limit divergences of interest between the parties by establishing incentives for the agent and by incurring monitoring and controlling costs (Jensen & Meckling, 1976) (see the section for mitigation strategies).

3.2.1. Agency theory in the context of equity crowdfunding

As equity is offered to investors in equity crowdfunding campaigns, ownership and control get separated – something which enables self-interested behaviours. Equity crowdfunding investors thereby face the same problems as the principals mentioned above. However, specific to new ventures is that the entrepreneur often remains as a significant equity owner in the firm. In equity crowdfunding campaigns, specifically, only around 10 percent of the equity is typically given up by the entrepreneur to the large crowd of investors (Vulkan et al., 2016). This implies that even though a slight separation of ownership and control would cause an increased risk of

entrepreneurs pursuing self-interested behaviours, the gains experienced by the entrepreneur to focus on maximizing firm-value would still be significant. Thereby the interest of the entrepreneur and the external investors should to a large extent be aligned. Hence, the agency problems faced by investors in new ventures, and consequently also equity crowdfunding investors, should in relation to incentives problems be minor (Huyghebaert & Van de Gucht, 2007). However, Sapienza and Gupta (1994) argue, in a study of the relationship between venture capitalists and CEOs, that agency problems do not just arise due to suboptimal efforts, but also due to the CEO's potential lack of ability as well as potential disagreements between the agent and the principal on the direction of the agent's efforts. These are problems especially evident in the context of a new venture where the high uncertainty makes it difficult to determine the most appropriate course of action, and where the entrepreneur often lacks managerial experience. Thus, even though no severe incentive problem would be present in the context of a small firm, Sapienza and Gupta (1994) make the argument that substantial agency risks are still present, something that causes actors such as venture capitalists to extensively monitor and control the entrepreneur.

Furthermore, specific to the small firm context is research showing that an entrepreneur's private benefits of control often are large compared to the financial returns, making it a primary consideration for small firm entrepreneurs to maintain as much private benefits of control as possible (Bolton & von Thadden, 1998). As an example, the entrepreneur is likely to get some personal satisfaction from working on the project that he or she founded, and the project might yield reputational enhancements. This could be one factor that contributes to some entrepreneurs' resistance towards being replaced, as reported by Schleifer and Vishny (1997). Thus, even though the entrepreneur might be a substantial owner in the firm, hence being incentivised to maximize firm-value, the entrepreneur could value private benefits such as actions that ensure continued control highly.

Moreover, while the investors in an equity crowdfunding campaign collectively might become a substantial owner in a fundraising firm, they are individually investing comparably small amounts making the ownership highly dispersed. Schleifer and Vishny (1997) argue that this type of investors (investors investing small amounts) are typically too small and too poorly informed to exercise even the control rights that they actually have. This could potentially leave the entrepreneur with even more effective control rights than what is allocated. In the case of large firms where the dispersion of ownership normally is prevalent, there usually exists a number of large shareholders monitoring the management upon which the small investors can free-ride (Schleifer & Vishny, 1997). In contrast, in equity crowdfunding, there is often the case that there are no large minority shareholders, except the founders of the company itself. Hence, the management of an equity crowdfunded firm could be under little pressure to perform well, leaving potential agency risks unmitigated. However, this is a hypothesis based on research performed in other financing contexts, and this study will, therefore, contribute to a better understanding of whether the same theoretical arguments apply for the new phenomenon of equity crowdfunding.

3.3. Mitigation Strategies

3.3.1. Deal screening and due diligence

Investors can carry out strategies with the goal of mitigating problems of information asymmetry and adverse selection. Such strategies include choosing the sources through which the investable ideas originate (i.e. securing a good *deal flow*), filtering out the projects that are of interest to the investor (what is often called *screening*), and subsequently evaluating the projects more thoroughly (this is frequently termed *due diligence*) (for a theoretical model of this process, see Tyebyee and Bruno (1984)). In private markets, some research has examined the ways that venture capitalists and angel investors carry out these activities (Muzyka, Birley, & Leleux, 1996; van Osnabrugge, 2000). In particular, venture capitalists have been shown to rank management team characteristics over other criteria such as financial information (Muzyka et al., 1996). In the domain of equity crowdfunding, there is some quantitative research that has identified board characteristics and the equity stake on offer as factors that can impact campaign success (Ahlers et al., 2015) but there is still a need to better understand the way that equity crowdfunding investors perceive and reflect on their investment setting and their investment process. It could be hypothesized that the equity crowdfunding platform acts as a screener of projects (on the behalf of the equity crowdfunding investors), and when the investor subsequently browses the platform, he or she might do screening and due diligence activities of their own. Vismara (2016) suggests that a possible screening criterion could be the share of the project campaign goal reached. As the information available is clearly constrained, he suggests, that the investors might use such factors to screen projects, effectively engaging in herding behaviour (as touched upon in section 3.1).

As regards due diligence processes of equity crowdfunding investors, it has been suggested that they do less due diligence than other (larger) private investors, the reason for this being that equity crowdfunding investors have been characterized as 'small investors', i.e. what the corporate finance literature calls investors that commit small investment sizes and acquire small equity stakes (Ahlers et al., 2015). These investors have been considered to have generally weak incentives for due diligence because of their small investment sizes (Agrawal et al., 2014). In fact, the fixed cost nature of doing due diligence on private companies has been proposed to be an activity that, when properly done, should only be within reach for investors committing capital as large as what is customary for angel investors or venture capitalists (Vismara, 2016). For smaller investors, this argument goes, it would be "prohibitively" expensive to exert the same time and effort to this end (Ahlers et al., 2015). Particularly, face-to-face interactions, something which is common for traditional investors, has been implied to be unfeasible (Agrawal et al., 2014). It has also been suggested that equity crowdfunding investors are less experienced and lack sophistication, compared with other investors, all of which could make it harder for them to address the issues of information asymmetry and adverse selection (Ahlers et al., 2015). Taken together, the literature suggests that equity crowdfunding investors might be less equipped to mitigate problems of information asymmetries and adverse selection than other investors in private markets but, to our best knowledge, not many studies have examined how these investors deal with these issues in practice. It is of particular interest to understand if the investors are aware of these issues, and if so, how they deal with them in a market where the investors are potentially inexperienced and lack the skills to be able to effectively distinguish between 'good' or 'bad' companies. If they are not aware of these issues, they run the risk of investing in overvalued firms. There is also the alternative possibility that the equity crowdfunding investors are aware of the risk of possible overvaluations but invest despite this fact, for other reasons (e.g. altruism or concern for the environment).

3.3.2. Contracting, monitoring and controlling

Investors are able to limit agency problems by establishing incentives for the agent to act in their interest and by incurring monitoring and controlling costs. The cost of these mitigating activities along with the investors' cost of the residual unmitigated divergence of interests (it is generally impossible to achieve complete convergence) are commonly referred to as the agency costs (Jensen & Meckling, 1976).

While the optimal approach on how to deal with agency problems would be to establish optimal contracts, it should be stressed that as the relationship between the investor and the manager evolves over time, eventualities arise that could not have been foreseen and accounted for in

the initial contract between the parties (Hart, 2001). Contracts are in this sense incomplete, and a question arises on how future decisions should be taken in response to changed eventualities. Due to these problems, the entrepreneur and the investor have to allocate the residual control rights efficiently (Hart, 2001). In theory, the optimal allocation for the investor would be an allocation in which funds are given to the manager under the precondition that the investor receives the residual control rights. If any eventualities that are unaccounted for would occur, then they would get to decide what to do. However, this is not doable in practice, given that the investor is not informed enough to decide what to do. Hence, the entrepreneur ends up with considerable residual control rights and discretion to allocate funds. This, in turn, gives the entrepreneur the opportunity to pursue potential self-interested behaviours, motivating additional measures to be taken by the investors to limit these problems (Schleifer & Vishny, 1997). While the mitigating activities under the contracting approach take place ex-ante the investment, these additional measures consist of monitoring and controlling activities that are exerted ex-post the investment.

Research demonstrates that venture capitalists and angel investors that invest in similar firms as the ones pursuing equity crowdfunding are exerting extensive efforts in reducing agency risks through mitigating activities (Sapienza & Gupta, 1994; van Osnabrugge, 2000). However, the mitigating activities conducted by the venture capitalists have been found to focus more on the ex-ante activities, while the angel investors have been found to focus more on the ex-post monitoring and control (van Osnabrugge, 2000). The mitigation strategies exerted by equity crowdfunding investors, if any, are currently unknown. However, it is theoretically expected, as discussed earlier, that small private investors will not put in any significant efforts into these mitigating activities. A reason for this is that it would require the devotion of time and resources that would be unjustifiable in relation to the investor's invested amount (Schleifer & Vishny, 1997). Also, the investors will face the so-called free-riding-problem – if the investor does something to improve the quality of management, then all shareholders will experience the derived benefits. Hart (2001) suggests that unless the shareholder is altruistic, she will ignore the positive benefits for the other shareholders and thereby under-invest in the monitoring of the entrepreneur. Moreover, it could be hard to persuade and facilitate the collective action of the crowd of investors, something that could be necessary for efficient control practices. However, the research conducted on dispersed ownership structures has focused on large firms, which is where dispersed ownership structures traditionally have been prevalent. Equity crowdfunded firms, on the other hand, have dispersed ownerships at the same time as being small. This study will, therefore, contribute to an increased understanding of how the arguments on dispersed ownership structures in relation to mitigation strategies apply for small firms.

3.4. Financial Intermediaries

A financial intermediary is an entity that screens companies, allocates capital, and subsequently does monitoring and controlling activities, on behalf of investors (Berger & Udell, 1998). Traditional types of financial intermediaries are banks and venture capitalists, and the emergence of such intermediaries have been linked to the need to reduce information asymmetries in capital markets (Allen & Santomero, 2001). Since smaller businesses are particularly informationally opaque, it has been argued that financial intermediaries are critical for the functioning of markets where smaller ventures are common (Berger & Udell, 1998). Also, one way that financial intermediaries are incentivized is through the acquisition of reputational capital, which is based on prior experience and performance (Hsu, 2004). Moreover, as equity crowdfunding markets are inhabited predominantly by companies that are modest in size, equity crowdfunding platforms should be expected to play an important role as financial intermediaries, intermediating between investors and an entrepreneur, and working for the efficient matching of ideas and capital by, for example, increasing the disclosure that companies do on behalf of the investors (Agrawal et al., 2014). Furthermore, it has been proposed that the platforms should select projects of high quality and limit fraud, and in this way, act to mitigate information asymmetries (Agrawal et al., 2014).

3.5. Theoretical Framework

This study explores how equity crowdfunding investors perceive issues of information asymmetry and agency, and how they seek to mitigate these potential problems. The theoretical framework upon which the study's empirical findings are discussed, primarily adopt research of information asymmetry as pioneered by Akerlof (1970) and literature on agency theory as developed by Jensen and Meckling (1976). The research of Ahler et al. (2015) and Berger and Udell (1998) further extends this literature by suggesting significant information asymmetries in the context of small firms, and Bolton and von Thadden (1998), Sapienza and Gupta (1994) and Schleifer and Vishny (1997), provide suggestions to why agency problems should be present also in the context of equity crowdfunding. The literature explaining mitigation activities in relation to information asymmetry and agency problems (Hart, 2001; Leland &

Pyle, 1977; Spence, 1974; Tyebyee and Bruno, 1984), aims to contribute with an understanding of the available practices to reduce potential problems. Moreover, the research of Ahlers et al. (2015), Agrewal et al. (2014), Hart (2001) and Schleifer and Vishny (1997) provides suggestions for which activities that theoretically would be expected to be performed by the crowdinvestors, where the low investment sizes result in lower exerted mitigation activities and the crowdinvestors' presumed lack of experience can impact the severity of the information asymmetry that these investors face, while at the same time make mitigation efforts less effective relative to more experienced investors. The literature related to financial intermediaries (Allen & Santomero, 2001; Berger & Udell, 1998) serves to shed light on the importance of the intermediating crowdfunding platforms, in relation to the mitigation of primarily information asymmetry, as well as the role that it can play as a signalling entity.

4. Research Methodology

4.1. Research Design and Approach

The purpose of this study has been to explore the considerations of small private investors in relation to information asymmetry and potential agency problems when investing in highly uncertain and risky small firms. The explorative nature of this objective and the problemoriented research question prompted a qualitative research method following the pragmatic paradigm, thereby placing the research problem as central and applying the best available approach to understand the problem (Mackenzie & Knipe, 2006). As guided by this notion, the thesis was conducted with an abductive approach, in which the theoretical development, empirical inquiry and analysis emerged iteratively (Dubois & Gadde, 2002). Hence, we were making sense of the observations by moving back and forth between theory and empirics. Furthermore, the study was conducted through an in-depth single-case design. A case study was regarded as appropriate due to case studies being a preferred method when research questions are exploratory in its nature and when a studied phenomenon is contemporary and hard to manipulate (Yin, 2009). Moreover, case studies are suitable for developing theory by utilizing insights of an empirical phenomena and its context (Dubois & Gadde, 2002). The adoption of a single-case, investors that have invested through the equity crowdfunding platform FundedByMe, as opposed to a multiple-case, is according to Yin (2009) suitable for revelatory cases. Thus, a single-case study was considered as a well-suited design given the explorative nature of the study and due to equity crowdfunding being a nascent phenomenon of which previous research is scarce.

4.2. Data Collection

4.2.1. Primary data

The study's primary collection of data was conducted through semi-structured interviews with investors that had completed investments through the Swedish equity crowdfunding platform FundedByMe. Semi-structured interviews were deemed appropriate, in order to ensure an indepth understanding of the crowdinvestors' considerations in relation to the studied phenomenon. This as the flexible nature of a semi-structured interview enables the researcher to better understand the ways that the interviewees recognize the studied phenomenon (Qu &

Dumay, 2011). Nine semi-structured interviews were held in the period March to April, with the first three interviews being more explorative, of which the data guided the theoretical development and suggested appropriate primary themes for the following six interviews.

4.2.2. Semi-structured interviews

Semi-structured interviews involve a prepared questioning guided by identified themes in a consistent and systematic manner interposed with probes designed to elicit more elaborate responses (Qu & Dumay, 2011). Two of the interviews were conducted through personal meetings, and seven interviews were conducted over the telephone. Both researchers were present at all interviews. The duration of the interviews was approximately forty-five minutes (one interview was though eighty minutes) and the interviews were, by the consent of the participants, tape-recorded and later transcribed. The participants were also informed about the purpose and anonymous approach of the study at the beginning of each interview, to encourage a more open dialogue. Furthermore, the interviews were held in Swedish since both the interviewers and interviewees had this language as their mother tongue, helping to make the interview situation more relaxed. Quotes that were to be used in the empirics section of this thesis were then translated into English. Some interview questions were prepared in advance (see Appendix A), but the open-ended nature of some of the questions, and the allowance of discussions about additional topics that the interviewee believed to be of interest enabled the interviewee to speak freely beyond the asked questions. Thus, the interviews were conducted in a focused manner (Yin, 2009). The interviews would go on until all of the themes of interest had been discussed, after which the interviewee was asked if there was something of importance that he or she thought had not been touched in the discussions and was worthy of mention. To reduce interviewer or interviewee bias (Saunders, Lewis, & Thornhill, 2012), a list of the interview questions was sent out to the interviewee before the interview. Also to this end, care was taken in asking questions without the use of theoretical concepts (e.g. instead of asking about a theoretical concept such as "information asymmetry", the interviewers would instead pose questions about the investors' views on the information on the crowdfunding platform in general).

4.2.3. Platform and sample selection

The respondents included in this study have all invested through FundedByMe, which is one of the dominating Swedish equity crowdfunding platforms. The selection of platform to include in the study was made based on two criteria's: the relevance of the platform to the Swedish

equity crowdfunding context as a whole, and the availability of contact information to crowdinvestors. The platforms FundedByMe and Pepins were perceived by the researchers to be of significant relevance to the context due to their dominance in the Swedish market. FundedByMe was the only platform from which necessary contact information to investors could be retrieved online. However, it should be noted that Pepins were contacted in the early stages of the study but declined to provide contact information to the investors. Thus, it should be acknowledged that the participants' perceptions of equity crowdfunding as a phenomenon may be biased due to their experiences as influenced by only one of the available platforms. However, the substantial relevance of FundedByMe to the Swedish equity crowdfunding context, in being one of the largest actors, was expected to yield valuable insights into the context as a whole.

To ensure that the participants would be able to form an as authentic account as possible in relation to the research question, the following selection criterion was chosen when selecting respondents: the investor should have invested in a company through the platform FundedByMe, should not be part of the personnel hired by FundedByMe, and they should not have been part of a management team that had sought funding through FundedByMe. The latter criterias were deemed appropriate in order for the study to provide a pure investor perspective of the phenomenon. Respondents were contacted in two ways, either by contacting people being members of the Facebook-group 'FundedByMe Lead Investors' or by reaching out to investors with available profiles on FundedByMe's website. Before contact, a cursory internet search was performed with the aim of ensuring that the investors conformed to the selection criteria. 65 members of the Facebook group were contacted, of which 4 investors accepted to be interviewed and 15 declined. The low response and acceptance rate were, however, speculated to be due to not all members actually having gone through with investments (which was the primary reasons for declining). 28 investors were contacted based on their available profile on FundedByMe, of which 5 investors accepted and 3 declined. The selection of respondents to contact was, besides the earlier described cursory internet search, random. In the initial contact with the investors, they were informed up-front that the study was interested in including them as subjects by virtue of their investing via FundedByMe. Still, during the course of two of the interviews, it was revealed that no investing via FundedByMe had taken place, why these investors were excluded from the empirical findings of this thesis (i.e. seven interviews were included).

4.2.4. Secondary data

The secondary data used in the study primarily consisted of data retrieved from the webpage of the concerned equity crowdfunding platform FundedByMe. The retrieved information was merely used to enhance our understanding of the structure of an equity crowdfunding platform, thereby serving to support the composition and the interpretation of the empirical inquiry. However, the retrieved information was used with caution, so that the empirics could be guided by the perceived available information in the eyes of the investors, as opposed to the actually available information.

4.3. Data Analysis

The research approach followed, as mentioned in section 4.1, an abductive approach, where a theoretical framework was developed in an iterative process with data collection, provoking new theoretical inquiries throughout the course of the study period. In the framework of analyzing case study evidence provided by Yin (2009), this study could be said to rely on a theoretical proposition that was developing throughout the process into a final theoretical framework with which the data was put into relation. The theoretical framework was developed during the course of the study in an interplay between data, which sometimes was categorized in the existing framework, and other times provided the impetus for further literature research and theoretical framework development (Saunders et al., 2002). Hence, in the earlier stages of the study, the analytical process was mainly taking place in verbal discussions between the researchers, and continuous reading of the literature was a prominent part of the process. For example, the researchers immediately followed each interview with a brief discussion on the findings that had just been found, and the interviews were transcribed within a few days of taking place. The process of transcribing the data also helps the researcher to become more familiar with it (King, Horrocks, & Brooks, 2019). As the study entered its later stages, the textual data were categorized in thematical categories that were analogous to the theoretical framework. For example, a response to a question about how the investor views financial information on the equity crowdfunding platform would be categorized under the theme "financial information" and, simultaneously, or later, also fall under the category of "due diligence" or "information asymmetry". In this way, the data was processed and reprocessed until it formed the final form that can be seen in the empirics section of this thesis. As all the quotes were originally in Swedish, they were also translated into English in this part of the process.

4.4. Quality of Research

The classic quality criteria of research, based in the quantitative research, states that the quality of the research should be judged on its validity and reliability, where the former describes the accuracy by which a variable describes a "real" phenomenon while the latter is concerned with the reproducibility of the study (King et al., 2019). These criteria have also been adopted by some qualitative researchers (King et al., 2019) and have, together with concerns about generalizability, been suggested to form the basis for the quality assessment of qualitative research (Yin, 2009). However, authors such as Lincoln and Guba (1985) have adopted alternative criteria for quality assessment of qualitative research, in critique of these aforementioned criteria (King et al., 2019). According to these authors, a case study is not generalizable in itself, instead any claims of generalizability are imposed on the reader, and should be based on available evidence from the study in question (Moriceau, 2010). In Lincoln and Guba's framework, "qualitative research does not pretend to objectivity" (King et al., 2019, p. 212), instead, a researcher should endeavour to give an account that gives the reader a chance to see how the researcher might have come to their conclusion. In that vein, we have tried to provide enough detail for the reader to see how our conclusions have been made while letting any assertions of our study's generalizability up to the reader to make.

5. Empirical Findings

5.1. Empirical Background

The presented empirical findings in this study represent the perspectives of seven investors that have gone through with investments in different firms seeking capital through the Swedish equity crowdfunding platform FundedByMe. The range of the participants' completed number of investments was between one to eight, and the investment sizes varied from 2 to 100 TSEK, though with a more common range between 10 to 50 TSEK (see Table 1). Moreover, the investors' individual investment sizes could vary significantly from campaign to campaign, with two investors' investment sizes varying between 20 to 100 TSEK.

The professional background of the investors was to a large extent characterized by tech and media professions, and only two investors, Investor A and F, had other backgrounds. However, two of the participants with IT background, Investor C and G, were currently running their own firms within other fields of business. The participants' general experience of equity investments outside the equity crowdfunding context resembles the experience of small and active private investors, who before the equity crowdfunding mainly invested in publicly listed markets. Investor F explains it as "*I'm a health professional, so I have no financial background. Investments are merely an interest of mine*", and Investor D explains it as "*I have to say that I am truly an amateur [in regard to investments], and in terms of traditional categorization I'm to be considered as a small private investor*".

One investor, Investor C, were pursuing investment opportunities as a larger part of his occupation and could be described as an angel investor with a couple of years of experience. However, their investments in equity crowdfunding campaigns were low compared to his regular investments outside the platform.

Table 1 - Interviewed Investors

Investor	Type of investor	No. of investments	Size of investments
Investor A	Small private investors	3-4	2-15 KSEK
Investor B	Small private investor	1-2	10 KSEK
Investor C	Angel investor with 2 yrs. of exp.	3	15 KSEK
Investor D	Small private investor	"a few"	30 KSEK
Investor E	Small private investor	4	10-40 KSEK
Investor F	Small private investor	7-8	20-100 KSEK
Investor G	Small private investor	6-7	30-100 KSEK

5.1.1. Investment Motives

The interviewees described their motives for investing as mainly financial, where the investors expected a financial return at some point in the future. A couple of the participants also recognized that investments in start-ups were particularly intriguing, providing additional enjoyment or thrill to the investment.

You, of course, want the money to grow. There is no reason to invest otherwise unless you are doing some kind of impact-investing. But I also think that start-up companies are fun. I have myself been running a start-up and think it's fun to see companies grow. (Investor G)

It [the equity crowdfunding campaign] has to be a bit exciting, I want a thrill-ingredient in the investments. (Investor B)

Some of the investors also mentioned that they primarily invest in campaigns that address sustainability issues. However, when asked to elaborate they pointed out that the main investment motive still was to enjoy financial benefits. That said, the motives of two participants differed substantially from the other interviewees, in that they described their main motives behind the investments as being of altruistic rather than of financial nature.

It's small sums we're speaking of, so it's enough to me that the entrepreneur becomes an entrepreneur rather than me earning money. (Investor D)

The reason [why I invest in projects through FundedByMe] is to 70 % that I want to contribute to businesses with good causes, 20 % as favourable investments and 10 % because of fear of missing out. (Investor C)

Thus, as outlined above, the interviewees mainly referred to their investment decisions as guided by financial motives. Some investors though pointed out that equity crowdfunding provides an extra thrill of investing, and some outlined that they screened the investments based on environmental and social sustainability. Moreover, two investors recognized that their main motive of the investment was more of an altruistic nature than financial.

5.2. Information Asymmetry Related Considerations

5.2.1. Investors' views of the available information and campaigns

Prior to investing, six of the seven investors (all except Investor D) purported to be using information on the equity crowdfunding platform but also complementing it with external information either by (as in the case of Investor A, F, and G) resorting to internet searches and direct contact with management via telephone or email to acquire information, or (as in the case of Investor B and C) by consulting investor networks. As regards the availability of information on the platform, Investor B said that the *"flashy"* promotional films that are used to advertise the companies were interesting to her, but added that *"This can hide things that one wants to know, though."*. Investor D expanded this notion, as he was describing the information environment on FundedByMe as heterogeneous and challenging.

The information asymmetry is of course considerable. There are a lot of hopes and there is a great difference in size among the projects and the markets differ so much for the different projects that it is very hard to make a good assessment of [a particular] market and the [merits of a particular] project. [...] Some projects have almost nothing. (Investor D)

Most of the investors made it clear that they thought that ventures on FundedByMe were of high risk, but the reason behind this was not explicitly stated in all instances. Still, Investor C provided one such justification, saying that the companies she considers are *"very high risk, since they are very early stage"*. Also, Investor F compared the risk of investing in equity crowdfunding to other investment categories. He posited that *"the risk level in investments in these companies in comparison with investing in publicly traded companies, it is much higher"*.

Three of the investors (Investors A, C, and D) discussed the problem of companies possibly seeking capital on FundedByMe when they are not able to achieve funding through other, more conventional, means. Investor A also believed that the ventures seeking capital were setting the valuations too high, asking rhetorically *"If their product is so good, why don't they go directly to a private market and get five million at a valuation of 100 million SEK?"* and following this

up by implying that the valuations on FundedByMe only are possible because of investor inexperience. Investor C shared his sentiment.

[...] Something that I have noticed regarding FundedByMe, and this is something that is talked about, is that is has gotten a reputation of [having] companies seeking capital there when they cannot get it somewhere else. They also set the valuations way too high. [...] The investments that I do are very high risk since they are very early-stage, but then they should have low valuations to reflect it. (Investor C)

5.2.2. Investor inexperience

Another topic that was often reiterated across the interviews was the idea that the equity crowdfunding market is special due to the unusually high proportion of inexperienced and unprofessional investors. Investor A, D, and E self-identified as being, or having been, inexperienced investors. They also implied that their inexperience had been a disadvantage to their ability to properly assess the available information on FundedByMe. Investor A said that *"I have been young in all these things [investing activities]"*, later adding *"I might have been fooled by a dream or two, but I have learnt from it"*. Also, perceiving his inexperience in a similar way was investor E.

It is quite difficult [to assess a new venture] because I don't know what information the crowdfunding platforms require [of the ventures] because some [of the ventures] are quite good, and some are really bad. But this perhaps also says something [about me], because this was not something I thought about ten years ago, when I started out with this thing." (Investor E)

Furthermore, Investor E made it clear that, with time, he had become less reliant on FundedByMe's supposed due diligence and was instead now examining the companies himself before investing, saying that "*Lately, I have learnt so much that I examine [the companies] myself.*"

5.2.3. Information that is of interest to the investors

All the investors purported to be looking at the financial information, current and prospective, that was presented on the equity crowdfunding platform, but it was clear that almost none of the investors put much emphasis on it by consistently only mentioning it briefly, before starting to talk about information that did matter more for them, in particular, non-financial company characteristics such as especially the management team's character. Such an emphasis on the

team was recognized in Investor D and G, where the latter stressed the importance to be able to act on the business ideas.

[...] ideas are nothing without execution, so it is very much the team [that is important]. What plan they have, how they envision their work, what they have done earlier etc. that is important for me. (Investor G)

Worth pointing out is that none of the investors used face-to-face interactions as part of their normal due diligence processes. Instead, they relied on the information on the equity crowdfunding platform, combined with searching the internet for information on the company and the founders, and in some cases contacted management directly via telephone or email. Interestingly, even though no in-person meetings were taking place, some of the investors said that they were still feeling able to pick up on the entrepreneur's character, just by looking at the information on the equity crowdfunding platform. For example, using the information on the entrepreneur]".

5.2.4. The investment size's impact on the extent of the due diligence efforts

Some of the investors had relatively clear answers about the relationship between the amount that was up for contention and how much due diligence they do. Investors E, F and G retold that they were more thorough in their due diligence efforts if they invested larger sums of money. Investor E posited "Yes, it does. If you put in more money, then you do it more seriously.", while Investor F said that he had contacted management directly via telephone and/or email when considering a large investment sum. Conversely, when investing relatively small sums, Investor G said bluntly that he had been "a bit careless", and when asked what makes it so, he replied "I think it is mostly because I have so damn much to do. If I think an [investment] case sounds very interesting, then I can lean more towards using my gut feel". In contrast to most of the investors in the sample, and an outlier in this regard, Investor A had a unique perspective in that he exerted the same due diligence efforts without respect to the investment amount committed (however, it should be noted that he only invested in the relatively low range of 2 000 to 15 000 SEK). It is also worth pointing out that while Investor G was generally sensitive to investment size, he said if some piece of information would "stick out", he could contact management directly without regard to the investment size considered. Finally, in conversation with Investors B and C, the investment size's effect on due diligence was not touched upon in the discussions.

5.2.5. Investors' views on the completion of the funding target

Four of the investors said that they paid attention to how far the ventures' campaigns were to reach their campaign goals. Investor B was using the metric as one factor, among others, in her investment process, saying that *"it almost shows if the idea is viable. Are there more people than me that believes in this idea?"*. More aggressive use of the metrics was seen by Investor F and G who used this metric to screen investments.

I think that the crowdfunding arena is interesting from the perspective that you can see the interest for the product. It is similar to a market survey that shows you how many people believes in the project. I immediately filter out projects to which I feel that I need to contribute significant sums to make the company reach the minimum level. In those cases, it is not interesting to me since I don't feel that I have the right knowledge to be sure that it is a great idea. (Investor F)

Is there a company that receives a lot of attention, then I put in more time into that company, for the reason that it has been paid a lot of attention. [...] Even though I might miss other fine opportunities. (Investor G)

5.2.6. Investors' expectations of the equity crowdfunding platform

A conception among five of the seven investors (A and E being the exceptions) was that the platforms' due diligence processes had a role to play in their own investment processes, but they differed in how they perceived FundedByMe carrying out these activities. They were all firmly believing that FundedByMe has to do *some* due diligence, otherwise the platform would be, in the words of Investor B, *"The platform for anything, and I do not perceive them to be that."*. Investor C, D and G expected the platform to at least check for criminal background in the entrepreneurs, but two of the investors, Investor D and G also went further, emphasizing the platform's role more than the other investors in our interview sample. Investor D, in particular stressed the platform's role, as a professional actor, to keep *"scammers"* out while also talking about the quality approval-effect of the platform on the ventures.

Above all, I have a great degree of confidence in the team, the management team [...] and that is in itself a sign of approval for the projects on the platform. For me that is the most important [thing]. (Investor D)

Well, to some extent we have to trust the platform, FundedByMe and these webpages would not exist if they would only build up crappy companies. [...] there is at least a first quality check that FundedByMe has done. (Investor G)

Furthermore, it is noteworthy that in discussions with four of the investors, even when not asked a question about the platform itself, they spontaneously raised the issue of what role FundedByMe plays in doing due diligence on the projects before they go live on the platform. Finally, it is worth pointing out that while some of the investors put trust into the platform's supposed due diligence efforts, all of them retold that the ultimate responsibility for their investment decisions and their consequences still lay on themselves.

5.3. Agency Related Considerations

5.3.1. The investors' views of the entrepreneurs' ex-post behaviour

Six of seven participants in the study recognized that they, before their investments, had reflected upon the possibility that the entrepreneurs' ex-post behaviour could interfere with the interests of the investors, thereby creating potential problems to them. Some investors retold that they had not given these concerns much thought, referring to that *"the risk is always present"* (Investor G), or, as Investor E, referring to that the investment size was too small to bother. However, one participant, Investor F, had given the potential concern of misaligned interests considerable thought before his investments but argued that the potential problems should be small.

I believe that if they [the entrepreneurs] do have an idea, then they also have an interest in making it a reality and earn money on the idea rather than on my investment. [...] I'm not worried that they would be dishonest in any way or that they would try to deceive me. (Investor F)

Although Investor F retold that he expected the problems of misaligned interest to be minor, he stressed that a perceived greater risk is the lack of experience among the entrepreneurs seeking funding, something that the investor particularly identified as evident within equity crowdfunding.

To contrast the above, two participants, Investor A and C, said that they perceived potential problems of misaligned interests as typically severe in the case of equity crowdfunding. This mainly due to the dispersed ownership, that they believed to cause less scrutinized managements and less personal reputation at stake for the entrepreneur. These two investors had though experienced considerable self-interested behaviours exerted by entrepreneurs in at least one of their equity crowdfunding investments.

Of course, it's very comfortable for the entrepreneur to have investors that do not care. Then they to a larger extent will be able to do whatever they want. [...] [and when asked about an investment in which the founder took out a high salary the investor answered] then I felt a bit fooled, even though I know that the founder is a good person. That caused me to not invest in the project anymore. (Investor C)

I have gotten investments in my own company, and then my friend asked me "could you take out all the money in salary?", yes, but I have nothing to gain from it. But of course, if you don't see any good prospect [for the company] and given that you are very disconnected from the investors in crowdfunding... then you would completely disregard all the investors or at least more than if you would have five investors of which you knew all. [...] but then I [as an entrepreneur] wouldn't be able to get any investments again and I would ruin my reputation. (Investor A)

Furthermore, one participant in the study, Investor D, did neither perceive any potential problems of misaligned interests nor would the investor bother if that would be the case. This was, however, recognized by him as related to the investors' noticeable altruistic motives and the investors' small investment size.

5.3.2. Investors' ex-post behaviours

When asked about how the investors seek to mitigate the earlier described potential problems of misaligned interests, five of seven investors retold that they did not exert any noteworthy efforts related to these concerns. The main justification for this was the size of the investors' investments.

I would never invest more than ten to fifteen thousand SEK through FundedByMe so then I don't care that much. If I would invest more, then I really would want all to be fine and I would then involve myself. (Investor C)

No, I'm not active in that way. I mean, I don't spend time on it [mitigating the potential of entrepreneurs' exerting self-interested behaviours] even though it maybe would be favourable, I'm choosing not to do it. But it's so small equity stakes, if you would take an ownership majority then it would be a completely different thing. (Investor E)

None of the seven participants in the study had reflected upon a potential need of entering into shareholders' agreements or similar contracts. Among the five above mentioned participants not exerting any noteworthy mitigation activities, it was though commonly mentioned that they valued to receive information ex-post the investment, which they in some cases requested directly from the entrepreneur, and that they followed the progress of the company on social media and in other channels. However, the incentives behind these actions were recognized more as a general interest in the performance of their investment, as well as a wish to review if

there was anything that the investor could do to the help the company, rather than as monitoring activities. Investor D explained the value-adding perspective by *"the thing is not that much that you want to step in and control if something wouldn't work, it's rather that if you would see an arising opportunity, then it would be positive to contribute"*.

It should be noted that one of the participants that had invested larger sums, Investor G, did say that he perceived his equity stake as low, hence not making it worthwhile to be more active. However, the other participant investing larger sums, Investor F, retold that he did try to address these concerns in the cases where the investment size had been big. *"I'm more active and have a greater interest in the companies that I have invested more money in. So of course, the money matters, it's related.* " (Investor F)

Investor F continued by explaining that in the cases of larger investments, then he regularly contacts the companies' management ex-post the investment to get additional information or to raise concerns and observations. However, the investor explained that these were activities mainly exerted as a way of adding value rather than as a way of mitigating potential divergences in interest.

It's some of the appeal with crowdfunding. You're not just a shareholder, you also become part of some sort of panel for the company. And they are also actively, or at least often, looking for competences among the shareholders. That makes it a bit familiar in a way. (Investor F)

There was only one participant in the study, Investor A, describing extensively exerted mitigation activities with the purpose of preventing entrepreneurs' potential self-interested behaviours. This was described as not related to the investment size, given that the investor recognized himself as a small shareholder. These activities mainly consisted of raising concerns and opinions in closed shareholder Facebook-groups, but also activities such as looking through financial statements of associated companies making sure that no fraudulent behaviour was taking place. In one company, Investor A retold that he had discovered what he perceived as fraudulent behaviour, whereby the investor tried to put pressure on the management through a shareholder Facebook group. Through the group the investor managed to get backing from other investors, effectively forcing the management to respond. Investor A elaborated why he had gone through the Facebook group as a forum by saying *"I had such few shares that I could not have done a damn thing. So, I had to influence others [other investors] [...]"*.

5.3.3. The effectiveness of investors' ex-post behaviours

As described in the previous section, a common explanation among the participants of why they were not exerting any mitigation activities was that the low investment sizes did not make it worthwhile to put in the required efforts. However, most of the investors recognized that they probably would be able to influence management despite their low equity stakes.

You are [in equity crowdfunding] able to influence significantly more than in Investor [the Swedish listed company] so to speak, so I think it is fun that they listen more and that you get more personal communication. [And when asked, "Do you think that you are able to make a real impact?"]. Yes, I think so. (Investor F)

However, a majority of the participants recognized that to make a real impact, it would be necessary to get the support of other shareholders. When asked how to facilitate such joint action, many mentioned Facebook shareholder groups as a suitable forum. This was a forum that had been prevalent for six of seven investors in at least one of their investments, but only Investor A had actively used that forum. However, when asked about the ability to influence as a group rather than as an individual alone, Investor C recognized that it is the companies that govern that ability. *"It depends on the openness of the company because you have to find each other, and you necessarily don't know who the other investors are"* (Investor C)

5.3.4. Expectations on the equity crowdfunding platform

None of the interviewed investors recognized that they had expected FundedByMe to pursue any activities ex-post the investment to look after the interests of the investors. Moreover, neither did none of the participants mention that they had expected any contracting activities to be performed by the platform before the investment. However, three participants (Investor C, E and G) mentioned that a welcomed addition, which according to them would strengthen the investors ability to monitor and control the entrepreneurs, would be if FundedByMe required that entrepreneurs raising capital committed to certain information sharing standards and that the entrepreneurs should facilitate the possibility of shareholders' joint efforts ex-post the investment.

They should have it in their terms of agreement. If you want to fundraise through crowdfunding, then you need to inform [the shareholders] in this way and this often. (Investor G)

6. Discussion

6.1. Information Asymmetry

Our findings suggest that most of the investors perceived problems of information asymmetry as they have been defined and discussed by Akerlof (1970), Guldiken et al. (2014) and Berger and Udell (1998), for example as supported by the emphasis on the perceived risk, as well as their need to search for information outside the platform, due to an unsatisfactory amount of information on ventures on FundedByMe's web platform. In this section, we will discuss our findings and their theoretical and analytical implications in more detail.

6.1.1. Investor inexperience and its effect on information asymmetry

The idea discussed by Ahlers et al. (2015), that smaller, inexperienced investors might be worse than professional investors such as venture capitalists at differentiating between "good" or "bad" companies, was espoused by some of the investors, as they were talking about how they thought of themselves as being, or having been, less aware of information asymmetry-related issues by virtue of their status as inexperienced investors. This idea was most clearly stated by Investor E who retold that with time and experience, he had become more aware of the fact that some of the ventures were "quite good" whereas others were "really bad". Thus, our study supports the notion that investors' inexperience might be aggravating problems of information asymmetry.

Furthermore, while it was evident that ventures on equity crowdfunding platforms were perceived as high-risk by most of the investors, it was only three of them that framed this problem in terms of adverse selection, something which by all of said investors were stated in terms of "ventures seeking capital on FundedByMe as a last resort for capital". Of these investors, only two of them, Investor A and C, also discussed the problem of adverse selection in terms of (over)valuations. What differentiated these two investors from the others, was that they were the only ones that had recently sought or invested capital in conventional private markets, in addition to having invested in several campaigns on FundedByMe. Thus, in our study, they were uniquely positioned to assess ventures on FundedByMe on more similar terms than the other investors. Also, they were purporting to have some education in finance, but this was not unique to them as Investor A, B, and E all had business degrees from university. The absence of discussions relating to valuations among the investors that had not recently been

well exposed to both equity crowdfunding and other private capital markets, could be interpreted as these investors being less knowledgeable, which in that case would corroborate with what has been suggested by Ahlers et al. (2015) in that smaller investors, according to that author, are expected to lack the experience and sophistication to mitigate information asymmetry problems as effectively as conventional investors in private markets. The fact that critical discussions about adverse selection problems were only raised by one of the other investors (except investor A and C), seems to support the same idea. Still, an important caveat to that analysis is that there could be other factors behind the relative absence of discussion about adverse selection. For example, we never asked about valuation issues explicitly, if it was not raised in the first place by the interviewee.

6.1.2. Signals, screening and herding

Our study presents several examples of equity crowdfunding investors using already committed capital by other investors to a project, as a signal that helps them to screen for attractive investments. In this way, the empirics of our study builds on the literature of signalling (Leland & Pyle, 1977; Spence, 1974) and herding behaviour (as pioneered by Banerjee (1992) and put in the context of equity crowdfunding by Ahlers et al. (2015) and Vismara (2016)). First, for some of the investors in our sample, the share of the campaign goal attained was used as a signal of quality. Investor B and F, in particular, expressed how they believed that this indicator said something about the wider market interest and viability of the business idea. In addition, our study also found that for some investors, the use of this signal was an integral part of their investments process, going so far as to screen investment projects based on how close they were to reaching their campaign goal. In this way, our thesis provides a clear account of equity crowdfunding investors using this piece of public information on the platforms to screen for the viability of a business idea. As cautioned in Banerjee's (1992) article, however, herding behaviour such as the one described above might lead to inefficient outcomes, something that was also acknowledged by Investor G, who said that he understands that using the strategy to focus only on investments that already have gotten attention in this way, there is the risk that you "miss other fine opportunities". Our study thus shows, in an exploratory fashion, that herding is used consciously by some equity crowdfunding investors as a strategy to overcome some of the, arguably, severe information asymmetry problems facing investors on an equity crowdfunding platform such as FundedByMe.

6.1.3. Due diligence

Most of the investors in our study did not see the financial information that was presented on the platform as a piece of information that weighed heavily in their assessments of the merits of the investment projects. Instead, they were stressing the importance of non-financial information, in particular the management team behind the ventures, as exemplified in the empirics-section of this study by the excerpts from Investor C, D, and G. The view of management characteristics as high-priority criteria is similar to what was reported by venture capitalists in Muzyka et al. (1996) and in this respect, the equity crowdfunding investors were similar to VCs. To get the information that they were interested in, they gathered information on the platform, did internet searches outside of it, and, in the case of Investor A, C, and F had direct contact with the entrepreneurial team over telephone or email. As noted in the empiricssection, no face-to-face due diligence was part of the investors' normal investment processes, thus supporting Agrawal et al. (2014) and Ahlers et al. (2015) in that in person due diligence is too costly for small investors. However, even without resorting to such, relatively expensive, due diligence activities, Investor D and F were both positive in their abilities to assess the personal characteristics of the entrepreneurs using the information given on the platform alone. What type of due diligence process that is behind Investor F's ability to "sense how much confidence [there is in the entrepreneur]" could not be determined from our data, but it is noteworthy that some equity crowdfunding investors perceive that they have the ability to assess relatively subjective management characteristics from just the information provided on FundedByMe.

The impact of the investment size on the due diligence activities of the equity crowdfunding investors was mostly in line with what the literature implies, in that investing of smaller sums of money was associated with lower exerted due diligence efforts (Agrawal et al., 2014; Ahlers et al., 2015). This was most clear, as was pointed out in the previous paragraph, in that no investor used face-to-face interactions as part of their due diligence process. Moreover, the relationship between the due diligence effort and investment size held true for the Investor E, F and G in that they purported to do more thorough due diligence when they were investing larger sums. Conversely, for relatively small sums, Investor G's retelling that he occasionally has been "*careless*" and only resorting to "*gut feel*" in his due diligence could imply that below certain investment sizes, some investors become less rational, and are to a larger degree resorting to their emotional response to investment ideas as guide to what to invest in. The relationship between investment size and due diligence was also apparent in that Investor E and

F contacted the prospective investees directly when investing larger sums, hence corroborating the literature. In opposition to what previously was discussed, however, Investor G was initiating direct contact with management when he perceived something to *"stick out"* in the information provided on the ventures, thus suggesting that other factors than investment size alone can influence an equity crowdfunding investor's willingness to exert due diligence effort. This "exception to the rule" was also observed in Investor A who stated that the investment size did not impact his due diligence activities, although the reasons for this behaviour could not be determined.

6.1.4. The equity crowdfunding platform

Five out of the seven investors in our sample held the view that the equity crowdfunding platform had a role to play in their investment activities, mostly in doing due diligence to provide some quality assurance of the ventures for the investor. Combining these empirics with what has been put forth in section 6.1, FundedByMe was perceived as a financial intermediary in a market with problems of information asymmetry in accordance with Berger and Udell's (2001) definition as well as what Allen and Santomero (2001) have laid out.

In support of the previous paragraph's statements, we found responses such as the ones provided by Investor D and G, clearly stating that the equity crowdfunding platform was providing a "sign of approval" and a "quality check". In Investor G's mind, if the platform did not make sure that the prevalence of "crappy companies" were limited (by doing appropriate due diligence), the platform would stop being used by investors. This in turn suggests that the equity crowdfunding platform plays a role similar to traditional financial intermediaries as described by Berger and Udell (1998) and have a reputational capital in a way that is analogous to what Hsu (2004) describes. The role of reputational capital could also explain why Investor A and C expressed their waning interest for investing in crowdfunding over time, since these investors were marred by bad investing experiences on FundedByMe. However, Investor G contradicted this notion, as he was getting more interested in investing on FundedByMe even after having had a few bad investing experiences, thus showing that other factors could be at play for the decreasing interest of Investor A and C. Also positive to investing in FundedByMe, Investor D saw the reputational capital of FundedByMe, which in his case was embodied in his belief in the management team, as a crucial factor to his view of the platform as the safe-guarder of the quality of ventures on the platform, hence strongly supporting the view of the equity crowdfunding platform as financial intermediary with a reputational capital.

Moreover, while all the investors stated that they were ultimately responsible for their investment decisions, a reiterated idea was that the equity crowdfunding platform has a special role to play in this market, due to it being a professional actor in a market with many inexperienced investors. This idea was most clearly held by Investor D, who said that the implication was that the platform should keep "*scammers*" out. Variations of this theme was retold by Investor C. Investor E said that he, with time, had become less reliant on the platform to do the due diligence for him, instead doing more of it himself, again implying that the equity crowdfunding platform has a special role to play for the inexperienced investor while being of less importance and stature for the more seasoned one (compare with section 6.1.1). In conclusion, we have given some evidence for the case of FundedByMe playing the role of a financial intermediary in the minds of some equity crowdfunding investors, as well as using reputational capital to effectively signal quality of the ventures to the investors. All in all, these perceptions could, from the literature's point of view be a way to cope with a market with unusually severe information asymmetry problems.

6.2. Agency Problems

The empirics of this study corroborate the agency related concerns raised by Jensen and Meckling (1976), in that almost all of the participating investors recognized a problem of entrepreneurs potentially pursuing self-interested behaviours, in breach of the investors' interests. However, a question persists whether these agency related problems are viewed as severe or trivial. Thereby either supporting the literature that argue that the fact that the entrepreneur often remains as a large shareholder only implies a minor incentive problem (Huyghebaert & Van de Gucht, 2007), and/or the literature that proposes that the high uncertainty in new ventures and substantial benefits of control yields substantial agency risks (Bolton & von Thadden, 1998; Sapienza & Gupta, 1994). The interpretation of the participants' responses does in relation to this topic yield mixed results. The fact that many of the participants only had given these concerns negligible amount of thought, to some extent overlooking the potential problems as an always evident risk, suggest a perception of the problems as being minor. This would stand in contrast with the literature of Sapienza and Gupta (1994), thereby also suggesting that the participating equity crowdfunding investors view these problems differently than other types of investors such as venture capital firms.

However, almost as many participants did recognize significant agency problems, thereby providing inconsistent responses. One participant, Investor F, clearly stated that the incentives

problem was immaterial, but that a more serious concern was the ability of the entrepreneur. This view corroborates both with the suggested minor incentives problems as proposed by Huyghebaert and Van de Gucht (2007), and the agency risks derived from the entrepreneur's lack of experience as suggested by Sapienza and Gupta (1994). Two other investors, Investor A and C, on the other hand, perceived significant incentives problems, thereby contradicting Huyghebaert and Van de Gucht (2007). Interestingly, one justification for this was that the dispersed ownership, as typical in equity crowdfunding, implied little pressure on management and hence extensive freedom to pursue self-interested behaviours (in the spirit of Bolton and von Thadden (1998) and Schleifer and Vishny (1997)). Another argument was that the dispersed ownership entails that the entrepreneur becomes disconnected from the shareholders, with little reputation at stake if pursuing self-interested behaviours compared to if the shareholders would have had closer relationships with the entrepreneur.

6.2.1. Exerted mitigation efforts

The majority of the participants did not pursue any activities with the purpose of mitigating agency problems, even though almost all of them had recognized that some agency problem prevails. Moreover, none of the investors had expected the equity crowdfunding platform to pursue any mitigating activities related to agency problems for them. Thereby, the majority of the equity crowdfunding investors in the study differed from the professional investors such as venture capital and angel investors, of as in van Osnabrugge (2000) was reported to pursue more extensive activities with the purpose of dealing with these potential problems. These investors, that did not pursue any mitigating activities, justified this behaviour with the notion that their small investment sizes did not make the required efforts worthwhile to pursue. Hence, corroborating with what theoretically is expected of small investors in dispersed ownership structures (Schleifer & Vishny, 1997). This provides a reasonable explanation of why the equity crowdinvestors differed from more traditional investors, in that their investment sizes are significantly lower than the ones of the venture capitalists and angel investors. However, some investors' willingness to contribute with value-adding activities stands in contrast with the literature suggesting that the investors would not want to perform activities upon which other investors could free-ride (Hart, 2001). This was not found to be related to the shareholders having altruistic motives, as proposed by Hart (2001), given that the main motives of the investors were financial. However, it could be speculated that the sustainability focus of many of the investors' investments entails an urge among the investors to contribute to the greater cause behind the venture, and not just the success of the venture itself.

To contradict the majority of the investors' actions, there were two participants that actually exerted mitigating activities, of which one, Investor F, was one of the larger investors in terms of invested funds. The activities performed by Investor F mainly consisted of monitoring the management, however, the investor recognized that he mainly performed activities in the companies in which he had invested larger sums, hence providing additional support for Schleifer and Vishny's (1997) idea of what should be expected of small investors' behaviour. However, on the contrary, Investor A pursued extensive mitigating efforts even though his investments were small in monetary terms. Besides monitoring the entrepreneur, Investor A also performed controlling activities, where he attempted to join forces with other investors to strengthen his cause. This was the only investor in the study that had tried to unify the crowdinvestors' individual influence. Neither Investor A nor F had exerted any contracting activities as a way of mitigating potential agency problems.

An interesting and unexpected finding from the interviews was that many investors actually believed they had a possibility of influencing the entrepreneur, without pursuing efforts that in another context, where dispersed ownership structures exist such as in public markets, would have been very costly. Many of the investors perceived that the entrepreneurs' dealt with individually raised concerns seriously and that the possibility of pursuing necessary joint controlling efforts as a crowd, often were facilitated by the entrepreneurs through Facebook shareholder groups. Thus, it is possible that the majority of the investors do not exert any mitigating activities even though the activities might not be that costly to pursue. The empirics of this study does not provide any clear answers on what other reasons there could be to this phenomenon. However, it could be speculated that other underlying reasons could be that many investors view the agency problems as insignificant, are unaware of how to perform mitigating activities, or are reluctant towards voicing opinions on open forums. While the study thereby provides some support for the notion that management in companies with dispersed ownership structures are under little pressure from investors to perform well (as long as no larger investors are present upon which the smaller investors can free-ride) (Schleifer & Vishny, 1997), it is not necessarily due to the fact that the small investors' ability to influence is limited or costly.

7. Conclusion

The purpose of this study has been to explore the considerations of small private investors in relation to information asymmetry and potential agency problems when investing in highly uncertain and risky small firms. By discussing the empirical findings in relation to a theoretical framework based on well-recognized financial literature, we have both been able to provide findings supporting the literature as well as new empirical insights.

First, our study provides an enhanced understanding of small private investors' considerations in relation to information asymmetry when investing in small firms. The participating investors' perceived problems of information asymmetry as defined and discussed by Akerlof (1970), Berger and Udell (1998) and Guldiken et al. (2014), and also viewed the information available at the crowdfunding platform as unsatisfactory to solely base an investment decision upon. Moreover, the empirical findings provided some support for the suggestion that small private investors' inexperience potentially could aggravate the information asymmetry (Ahlers et al., 2015). Also, the study offers a more comprehensive understanding of the importance that small private investors puts in the signalling of already committed capital, providing contextual support to the literature of Leland and Pyle (1977) and Spence (1974), in being considered by many participants as an important way of overcoming information asymmetry. Furthermore, the due diligence efforts exerted by the investors to further overcome the information asymmetry mainly focused on non-financial information, where the most important information was suggested to be the characteristics of the management team. Thus, showing that the participating small private investors had similar informational prioritizations as professional venture capital firms (Muzyka et al., 1996). Moreover, the extent of the participants' exerted due diligence efforts was to a large degree dependent on the investment size, thereby being in line with the literature suggesting that extensive due diligence efforts are too costly for small investors to pursue (Agrawal et al., 2014; Ahlers et al., 2015).

Furthermore, many of the participants in the study held the view that the intermediating crowdfunding platform had a role to play in their investment decision, suggesting that the platforms are to be viewed as financial intermediaries in accordance with Berger and Udell's (1998) definition. The findings suggest that the small private investors in equity crowdfunding view the platforms as having important reputational capital, thereby signalling firm quality to the investors, analogues to what has been suggested by Hsu (2004). Thus, it could be interpreted

that the investors participating in the study expect the equity crowdfunding platforms to overcome some of the information asymmetries on behalf of the investors.

While the thesis supports the research of Jensen and Meckling (1976) suggesting that an entrepreneur-investor relationship will encounter challenges of agency, the empirics provided mixed results in relation to how severe the participating small private investors perceived these problems. Moreover, most of the participants did not exert any activities to mitigate perceived agency risks. Thus, the participating crowdinvestors differed from professional actors, such as venture capitalists and angel investors, which have been reported to pursue significant mitigation efforts (van Osnabrugge, 2000). This behaviour and the participants' justifications thereof corroborates with the suggestion of Schleifer and Vishny (1997) in that the low invested sums made the mitigating efforts not worthwhile to pursue. However, the willingness of many investors to pursue value-adding activities weakens this argument, and contrast the literature (Hart, 2001) by suggesting that the free-riding problem not necessarily could explain the behaviours of small investors to not pursue mitigating activities. Moreover, the notion of many participants that it actually is possible to influence entrepreneurs in equity crowdfunding, despite the investors individually low equity stakes, contribute to the literature by contrasting the view of Schleifer and Vishny (1997) and Hart (2001) who suggest that small investors in dispersed ownership structures have very limited possibilities to influence management.

Because of the individuality of each case and the specific contextual factors of the participating investors' investments, it should be stressed that the findings of this study might not be true for other empirical contexts. Moreover, the findings are influenced by the investors' experiences of either favourable or disappointing investments, guiding their general attitude towards equity crowdfunding as a phenomenon. It should also be noted that the equity crowdfunding platforms differ in terms of structure, implying that the expectations on, and perceptions of, other crowdfunding platforms could be different from the one presented in this study.

Besides providing contributions to previous literature, the empirical findings of this study also provide important practical implications, mainly by showing that many of the participants viewed the equity crowdfunding platform as an important signalling entity, thereby suggesting that the platforms need to be aware of investors perceiving them as signalling quality. Moreover, the study provides suggestions for actions that could be undertaken by platforms to reduce both information asymmetry and agency risks to investors, for example through focusing more on educating and informing investors about risks, and by providing forums ex-post investment that enhances the investors' ability to jointly monitor and control the management. This thesis provides an exploration of the beliefs of, and actions undertaken by, small private investors in equity crowdfunding. To further add to the body of knowledge within this context, we recommend further research focusing on how the equity crowdfunding platforms perceive the information asymmetry and their role as an intermediator. Moreover, it would be of interest to explore how crowdinvestors' perceptions and actions affect entrepreneurs pursuing equity crowdfunding. This would specifically be of interest from a broader governance perspective, in that the potential lack of large external investors and the suggested limited governance activities of the small private investors, could imply that equity crowdfunded companies remain unpressured from external investors, potentially providing important implications for the overall economy. This line of research would though be given the generalizability of this thesis' findings, and it would, therefore, be favourable with supporting quantitative research. Finally, the sub-finding that Facebook shareholder groups were common for equity crowdfunded firms, provides an interesting base for research looking into how those kinds of forums could be used as a corporate governance mechanism for small private firms.

8. References

- Agrawal, A., Catalini, C., & Goldfarb, A. (2014). Some simple economics of crowdfunding. *Innovation Policy and the Economy*, *14*(1), 63-97. doi:10.1086/674021
- Ahlers, G. K. C., Cumming, D., Günther, C., & Schweizer, D. (2015). Signaling in equity crowdfunding. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 39(4), 955-980. doi:10.1111/etap.12157
- Akerlof, G. A. (1970). The market for "lemons": Quality uncertainty and the market mechanism. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 84(3), 488-500. doi:10.2307/1879431
- Allen, F., & Santomero, A. M. (2001). What do financial intermediaries do? *Journal of Banking* and *Finance*, 25(2), 271-294. doi:10.1016/S0378-4266(99)00129-6
- Banerjee, A. V. (1992). A simple model of herd behavior. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 107(3), 797-817. doi:10.2307/2118364
- Belleflamme, P., Lambert, T., & Schwienbacher, A. (2014). Crowdfunding: Tapping the right crowd. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 29(5), 585-609. doi:10.1016/j.jbusvent.2013.07.003
- Berger, N. A., & Udell, F. G. (1998). The economics of small business finance: The roles of private equity and debt markets in the financial growth cycle. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 22(6-8), 613-673. doi:10.1016/S0378-4266(98)00038-7
- Bolton, P., & von Thadden, E.-W. (1998). Blocks, liquidity, and corporate control. *Journal of Finance*, *53*(1), 1-25. doi:10.1111/0022-1082.15240
- Cassar, G. (2004). The financing of business start-ups. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *19*(2), 261-283. doi:10.1016/S0883-9026(03)00029-6
- Dubois, A., & Gadde, L.-E. (2002). Systematic combining: An abductive approach to case research. *Journal of Business Research*, 55(7), 553-560. doi:10.1016/S0148-2963(00)00195-8
- Fama, E. F., & Jensen, M. C. (1983). Separation of ownership and control. *The Journal of Law* and *Economics*, 26(2), 301-325. doi:10.1086/467037
- FundedByMe Crowdfunding Sweden AB (publ). (2019). Informationsmemorandum inför notering på NGM Nordic NTF. Retrieved from:

 <u>https://static.fundedbyme.com/documents/noteringsmemorandum-</u>

 2010
 100

2019.pdf?_ga=2.56430441.392099386.1557608026-1041490870.1555629936

- Gompers, P., & Lerner, J. (2000). Money chasing deals? The impact of fund inflows on private equity valuation. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 55(2), 281-325. doi:10.1016/S0304-405X(99)00052-5
- Guldiken, O., Tupper, C., Nair, A., & Yu, H. (2017). The impact of media coverage on IPO stock performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 72, 24-32. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.11.007
- Hart, O. (2001). Financial contracting. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *39*(4), 1079-1100. doi:10.1257/jel.39.4.1079
- Hsu, D. H. (2004). What do entrepreneurs pay for venture capital affiliation? *Journal of Finance*, 59(4), 1805-1844. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.2004.00680.x

- Huyghebaert, N., & Van de Gucht, L. M. (2007). The determinants of financial structure: New insights from business start-ups. *European Financial Management*, *13*(1), 101-133. doi:10.1111/j.1468-036X.2006.00287.x
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *3*(4), 305-360. doi:10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X
- Kaplan, S. N., & Strömberg, P. (2003). Financial contracting theory meets the real world: An empirical analysis of venture capital contracts. *Review of Economic Studies*, 70(2), 281-315. doi:10.1111/1467-937X.00245
- King, N., Horrocks, C., & Brooks, J. (2019). *Interviews in qualitative research* (2nd ed.). London, England: Sage Publications.
- Leland, H. E., & Pyle, D. H. (1977). Informational asymmetries, financial structure, and financial intermediation. *Journal of Finance*, *33*(2), 371-387. doi:10.2307/2326770
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newbury Park, California: Sage Publications.
- Mackenzie, N., & Knipe, S. (2006). Research dilemmas: Paradigms, methods and methodology.IssuesinEducationalResearch,16(2),193-205.http://www.iier.org.au/iier16/mackenzie.html
- Moriceau, J.-L. (2010). Generalizibilty. In *Encyclopedia of case study research*. Retrieved from: http://sk.sagepub.com.ez.hhs.se/reference/casestudy/n155.xml
- Muzyka, D., Birley, S., & Leleux, B. (1996). Trade-offs in the investment decisions of European venture capitalists. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 11(4), 273-287. doi:10.1016/0883-9026(95)00126-3
- Pepins Group AB (publ). (n.d.). Investera på Pepins. Retrieved 2019 March 15 from: https://www.pepins.com/investment-structure
- Poetz, M. K., & Schreier, M. (2012). The value of crowdsourcing: Can users really compete with professionals in generating new product ideas? *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 29(2), 245-256. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5885.2011.00893.x
- Qu, S. Q., & Dumay, J. (2011). The qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management*, 8(3), 238-264. doi:10.1108/11766091111162070
- Sapienza, H. J., & Gupta, A. K. (1994). Impact of agency risks and task uncertainty on venture capitalist-CEO interaction. Academy of Management Journal, 37(6), 1618-1632. doi:10.5465/256802
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2012). *Research methods for business students* (6th ed.). Essex, England: Pearson Education.
- Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1997). A survey of corporate governance. *Journal of Finance*, *52*(2), 737-783. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1997.tb04820.x
- Simonsohn, U., & Ariely, D. (2008). When rational sellers face nonrational buyers: Evidence from herding on eBay. *Management Science*, 54(9), 1624-1637. doi:10.1287/mnsc.1080.0881
- Spence, M. (1974). Competitive and optimal responses to signals: An analysis of efficiency and distribution. *Journal of Economic Theory*, 7(3), 296-332. doi:10.1016/0022-0531(74)90098-2

- Tomczak, A., & Brem, A. (2013). A conceptualized investment model of crowdfunding. *Venture Capital*, 15(4), 335-359. doi:10.1080/13691066.2013.847614
- Tuvhag, E. (2018, January 16). FI varnar för hajpad investeringsform: "Hög risk". *Svenska Dagbladet*. Retrieved from: https://www.svd.se/fi-varnar-for-hajpad-investeringsform-hog-risk/om/crowdfunding
- Tyebjee, T. T., & Bruno, A. V. (1984). A model of venture capitalist investment activity. *Management Science*, *30*(9), 1051-1066. doi:10.1287/mnsc.30.9.1051
- van Osnabrugge, M. (2000). A comparison of business angel and venture capitalist investment procedures: An agency theory-based analysis. *Venture Capital*, 2(2), 91-109. doi:10.1080/136910600295729
- Vismara, S. (2018). Information cascades among investors in equity crowdfunding. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *42*(3), 467-497. doi:10.1111/etap.12261
- Vulkan, N., Åstebro, T., & Sierra, M. F. (2016). Equity crowdfunding: A new phenomena. Journal of Business Venturing Insights, 5, 37-49. doi:10.1016/j.jbvi.2016.02.001
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications.
- Ziegler, T., Shneor, R., Garvey, K., Wenzlaff, K., Yerolemou, N., Hao, R., & Zhang, B. (2018). *Expanding Horizons* (European Alternative Finance Industry Report No. 3). Retrieved from the website of Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance: https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/faculty-research/centres/alternativefinance/publications/expanding-horizons/#.XNc0KY4za70

9. Appendix

APPENDIX A: Interview Guide

Introduction and Background

- Do you approve of the interviews being tape-recorded? Do you have any questions before we begin?
- Could you briefly describe your background and occupation?
- How would you describe your general experience of financial investments?
- What experiences do you have from investing through equity crowdfunding?
- Why did you begin to look at investment opportunities at FundedByMe?
- What would you say that the motives behind your investments are?

Information related questions

- Which information are you looking for when considering an investment? What is of most importance?
- Do you believe that the available information at FundedByMe's platform is sufficient for making an investment decision?
- How do you perceive the funding target, and the current capital fulfillment rate, as displayed for each campaign on FundedByMe?
- Are there any specific types of campaigns that you believe are more suitable for equity crowdfunding?

Agency related questions

- Have you entered into any shareholders' agreements or similar contracts upon investing? Are such contracts something that you have considered to be of importance?
- Have you after the investment gotten information about the current state of your investment, or have you tried to get this information? Why?
- When considering investing, how did you view the possibilities of influencing and controlling the company after the investment? Was this an important consideration, why? Have you tried to influence the management after completing the investment?
- Would you say that you have had the opportunity to influence and control management?
- How did you perceive the possibilities of disposing your shares when making the investment decision?
- How do you believe that the management of equity crowdfunded companies are affected by the fact that there are many shareholders in these types of firms?
- Would you say that it is possible to pursue joint efforts with the crowd of investors to control the management?

Financial intermediaries

- How would you describe the role of FundedByMe for you as an investor?
- Which expectations do you, as an investor, have on FundedByMe?